

School Reopening and Learning Strategies During a Pandemic: Resource Guide and Summary of the Research



August 2020

June Han, Ph.D. junehan@post.harvard.edu https://www.junehanphd.com



Table of Contents

Introduction
Learning During and After Covid-195
Observations
Debate on Reopening Schools5
Broad Findings and Recommendations7
Resource Guide on Learning Models
Glossary of Terms
On Communications and Messaging11
Information on Learning Models11
Highlights and Insights
On Assessments
Works Cited
Extended Bibliography
On Learning Models
On Learning During and After Covid-1929
On Closing and Reopening Schools
News Articles
Other Online Resources

Figures and Tables

Figure 1. Relationship Between Learning Models	Figure 1	1. Relationship Between Learning	g Models	11
--	----------	----------------------------------	----------	----

	4.0
Table 1. K-12 Learning Models (Face-to-Face, Online, Blended)	12
Table 2. K-12 Alternative Learning Models (Remote and Personalized)	13
Table 3. Learning Models of Interest (Blended Rotation and Blended Synchronous)	14
Table 4. Pros and Cons of Remote and Online Learning	15
Table 5. Pros and Cons of Blended and Blended Synchronous Learning	16
Table 6. Pros and Cons of Personalized Learning	17

Introduction

Purpose

This report summarizes the research on learning models and the issue of school reopening during Covid-19 and serves as a resource for K-12 educators in schools and school districts.

Several months ago, the world learned about a new and dangerous coronovirus that causes a potentially deadly disease called Covid-19 (Joseph et al., 2020, August 17).¹ First identified in Wuhan, China, the virus spread rapidly across the globe. The last time the world experienced such a phenomenon was during the 1918 Flu Pandemic. In 2020, this "once in a century" global pandemic has severely disrupted normal, everyday life and led to widespread closures of schools and businesses along with a massive decline in world-wide travel.

Many schools in the U.S. closed their buildings in Spring 2020 and turned to emergency remote learning to fill the void. Much more complicated than the decision to close schools has been the decision on how, when, and under what conditions to reopen schools.

This report is a summary of the research that I conducted using secondary sources (journal and news articles, reports, etc.) on learning models and on the issue of school reopening during Covid-19. I offer my findings as a resource for K-12 educators in schools and school districts.

In the first section, I cite my observations along with broad findings and recommendations about learning during and after Covid-19 based on the research and also on my background as an applied researcher in education who has studied the integration of technology into student learning. I also discuss some of the issues in the debate over reopening schools.

The second section is a resource guide on learning models. I present a glossary of terms and a series of tables that outline benefits, challenges, recommended guidelines, and other considerations for various learning models. The section ends with highlights from my overall findings in this area.

The third section is a brief discussion on assessments as it relates to learning during Covid-19, focusing on the importance of learning objectives based on standards and on the need to reflect on desired student outcomes.

¹ For a good review on what is known about Covid-19 to date, see this article (Joseph et al., 2020, August 17) at <u>https://www.statnews.com/2020/08/17/what-we-now-know-about-covid19-and-what-questions-remain-to-be-answered/</u>

I then submit works cited, and in the final section, I introduce an extended bibliography organized into various topics and categories that may be useful to educators. The extended bibliography includes links to readings and resources that were current and functional as of August 2020.

This work is part of a larger information-gathering project. For more information, please contact me at junehan@post.harvard.edu.

Learning During and After Covid-19

Observations

Schools that were already offering online learning or technology-enhanced learning in the classroom prior to the pandemic-related school closures were better equipped to provide remote online learning. Such schools are best equipped to continue instruction during closures for some types of emergencies, including pandemics (Schwartz et al., 2020).

As schools reopen in the Fall, they face both challenges and opportunities. The challenges are many, and they are substantial in terms of both logistics and preparing for instruction.²

In spite of the many challenges, there are also opportunities. While the focus was on teaching during a crisis in the months following school closures, there is an opportunity to be thoughtful and intentional in planning for the coming school year and beyond.

There is an opportunity to reimagine teaching and learning. The crisis gives us an opportunity to take a pause and imagine education systems in which all students can thrive (Arnove, 2020).

There are long-term opportunities to integrate technology as part of the instruction to deepen student learning. Before remote learning in the Spring, there were teachers who had never used online tools for learning. With the closing of schools, there was no choice but to turn to online learning, and there may be some teachers who continue to use online tools even after schools reopen. In all likelihood, the Covid-19 crisis will accelerate the integration of technology into student learning.

There is an opportunity to move toward more student-centered learning. In the face of significant disruption and continuing challenges, it is more important than ever to incorporate student voice so that students can take ownership of their learning and become "co-creators and partners in the learning process" (Quadir, 2020).

There is also an opportunity to develop authentic assessment of 21st century learning skills. Online learning and the integration of technology into the instruction have the potential to help students develop skills such as creativity, critical thinking, collaboration, and communication. Ultimately, the pandemic-related school closures may serve as a catalyst for the development of alternative assessment strategies (Quadir, 2020).

Debate on Reopening Schools

There has been an ongoing debate about the importance of students being physically present in school and how much physical distancing is required to maintain a safe environment in schools.

² The <u>CDC's guidance on Operating Schools During Covid-19</u> discusses factors that school leaders must consider as it relates to data monitoring, testing, the use of masks, cleaning and disinfection, ventilation, food service, and physical distancing, among other factors.

The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP, 2020) stated in June 2020 that it "strongly advocates that all policy considerations for the coming school year should start with a goal of having students physically present in school." With changing conditions and in the face of criticism and controversy, the AAP added in August 2020 the following statement to its guidance on reopening schools:

Unfortunately, in many parts of the United States, there is currently uncontrolled spread of SARS-CoV-2. Although the AAP strongly advocates for in-person learning for the coming school year, the current widespread circulation of the virus will not permit in-person learning to be safely accomplished in many jurisdictions.

The AAP guidance goes on to discuss the negative impact of school closures on children in Spring 2020, including social isolation and academic learning losses. It points out the important role that schools play in identifying cases of child abuse, substance use, depression, and suicidal ideation and how school closures have led to a decline in food security and physical activity for some students. It also notes the "disproportionate impact" that school closures have had on "Black, Latinx, and Native American/Alaskan Native children and adolescents" (AAP, 2020).

Whereas the AAP once suggested that "spacing as close as 3 feet may approach the benefits of 6 feet of space, particularly if students are wearing face coverings and are asymptomatic," its guidance now states that "desks should be placed at least 3 feet apart, and ideally 6 feet apart." It goes on to add that "[s]chools should weigh the benefits of strict adherence to a 6-feet spacing rule between students with the potential downside if remote learning is the only alternative" (AAP, 2020).

The <u>CDC guidance</u>, on the other hand, recommends "[s]pace seating/desks at least 6 feet apart when feasible," and it notes that "[t]he many benefits of in-person schooling should be weighed against the risks posed by Covid-19 spread."

School fulfills an important role not only in learning, but in the social and emotional development and well-being of students. School is about more than content knowledge acquisition; it provides opportunities for socialization and a sense of community for many students. Additionally,

[s]chool provides a structured setting in which children can learn and develop social competencies, such as self-confidence, friendship, empathy, participation, respect, gratitude, compassion, and responsibility ... Learning objectives can be achieved remotely (and evaluated to some extent), but the core mission of any school system also comprises the promotion of students' wellbeing (Colao et al., 2020).

School leaders must consider the extent of Covid-19 community spread in their area along with updated public health guidelines and ultimately weigh the costs and benefits of reopening schools. A range of people, from doctors to educators and parents to policy makers, have argued that the social and academic costs of school closures on children need to be weighed alongside the risks of the virus itself (Goldstein & Shapiro, 2020, July 11). According to Viner et al. (2020), "[r]ecent modelling studies of COVID-19 predict that school closures alone would prevent only 2-4% of deaths, much less than other social distancing interventions" (p. 397). They go on to add that policy makers should consider combinations of social distancing measures that are less disruptive than closing schools, especially if restrictive social distancing policies need to be implemented over long periods of time (Viner et al., 2020). While some medical experts point out that school closures would prevent only 2-4 percent of

deaths, is this an acceptable cost given the many benefits of opening schools? These are the kinds of decisions that school administrators are being asked to make.

In May 2020, the World Health Organization (WHO) advised that before reopening, Covid-19 infection rates should remain at 5 percent or lower for at least 14 days in any given area.³ While this recommendation was not specifically made regarding schools, it has emerged as a metric that many school districts are considering in their school reopening plans. However, the rate is only a reliable indicator when there is widespread testing, and many states in the U.S. are still not doing enough testing (Goldstein & Shapiro, 2020, July 14).

Many teachers and school leaders have concerns about reopening schools. There are concerns about school and building readiness and policies around mask wearing and physical distancing in classrooms and schools. Teachers and staff fear for their own health and safety along with the health and safety of their families. Goldstein and Shapiro (2020, July 11) point out that "[s]chool systems struggling to meet the financial and logistical challenges of reopening safely will need to carefully weigh teachers' concerns. A wave of leave requests, early retirements or resignations driven by health fears could imperil efforts to reach students learning both in physical classrooms and online." Almost 30 percent of the more than 3.8 million full-time teachers in the country are older than 50, and about a third of school principals are over 55, putting them at high risk of severe illness from Covid-19 (Mandavalli, 2020, July 15).

Ultimately, whether in-school or remote, consistency in schooling and learning can protect young people who are experiencing stress and other challenges. Reich et al. (2020) state that "[t]he research on education in emergencies suggests that continued schooling and learning can be a protective factor helping young people cope with stress and challenges during periods of disruption" (p. iii). As such, the work of schools in providing consistent instruction and support is more important than ever.

Broad Findings and Recommendations

Schools and school districts need to be flexible and prepared for a wide of range of options. They should incorporate both in-person and remote learning strategies as they will need to be flexible with changing circumstances. Many school districts plan to start with remote learning in Fall 2020. However, circumstances may change to allow for in-person learning in the future. To make transitions smoother and easier between in-school, blended, and remote learning, schools and school districts should "identify appropriate curricula that have both in-person and remote strategies, leveraging technology where age appropriate, and linked to specific learning objectives" (Sharfstein & Morphew, 2020). While no single learning option is likely to work for all students or in all scenarios, Schwartz et al. (2020) argue that "being prepared to offer a variety of instructional modes under different conditions can help bridge long periods of school closure and better support students" (Schwartz et al., 2020, p. 17).

Schools and school districts need to increase their focus on special student populations. Students within this group include students with disabilities, low income students (i.e., students who qualify for free or reduced meals at school), students from underserved racial minority groups, and English learners. Other students in this group include children in foster care, children experiencing homelessness, and youth in incarcerated settings (Reich et al., 2020).

³ See <u>https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/testing/testing-positivity</u> for more information.

On-site education should be prioritized for students who experience barriers to remote learning and those who are identified as being at higher risk. Other than the groups mentioned previously, younger students are another group that may find remote online learning challenging. Schools should also consider offering additional in-school time and support to students who are most at risk of falling behind academically (Sharfstein & Morfew, 2020).

In general, younger students face more challenges with remote online learning than older students. Younger students do not have the same level of autonomy and independence as older students. Additionally, they may not always understand the larger significance of what they are learning. One of the biggest concerns about remote learning is the lack of social interaction and the potential harm this may cause, especially to younger students (see Rice, 2006). Picciano and Seaman (2007) note that "[i]n K-12 schools, especially at the primary and middle school level, the social and emotional development of students is an important aspect of the overall school experiences" (p. 19). They go on to add that a blended learning approach may ease this concern by providing some face-to-face interaction.

On the other hand, these are generalizations, and there are differences among individual students to consider as well. Some younger students may do well with remote learning, whereas there may be some older students who struggle with learning remotely. Another factor to consider is that older students may face larger learning declines than younger students from the lack of in-class instruction, especially in math (see Borman, 2020).

If at all possible, give families a choice as they will know best which learning model or option fits best for their individual child and for their particular circumstances and/or situations. If schools and school districts plan to give families a choice, they should grant special consideration for in-person schooling requests to students from special populations (i.e., students with disabilities, students who qualify for free-or-reduced meals, English learners, etc.). Overall, in-person schooling should be more of a priority for younger students as they tend to have a harder time with remote online learning. However, older students who are struggling in school (especially in math) and are at higher risk academically should be made a priority as well.

While some studies have shown that younger students are less likely to transmit the virus than older students, the research in this area is inconclusive. A large study from South Korea showed that while children under the age of 10 transmit the virus to others much less often than adults, children who are ages 10-19 can spread the virus to the same degree as adults (see Mandavilli, 2020, July 18). On the other hand, another study about a Georgia sleepaway camp for children ages 6-19 showed how quickly the virus could spread among both older and younger children. The camp, which did not require campers to wear masks, closed within days of opening (Joseph et al., 2020, August 17). Also, while overall infection rates remain low for children and it is rare for them to become seriously ill with Covid-19, a small proportion of children who are infected develop a condition called Multisystem Inflammatory Syndrome in which the body's immune system attacks multiple organs (Joseph et al., 2020, August 17). With regard to children, the overall issue of Covid-19 is complicated, and further research is needed. School leaders need to stay up to date on the research in this area.

A substantial percentage of parents and guardians have expressed that they are not comfortable with their students attending school in-person in the Fall. Many districts are surveying parents to better understand their comfort level with reopening school buildings. They are finding a significant minority — up to a third of parents in some large districts — do not want to send their children into classrooms (Goldstein & Shapiro, 2020, June 26). If potentially up to 1/3 of families prefer that their students do

100% remote online learning, that may leave open more socially distanced options for other families that prefer more in-class instruction.

Survey data suggests that low income Black and Hispanic parents are more fearful and wary about sending their children to schools when they reopen. In an <u>online survey</u> among parents with children in New York State public schools in August 2020, higher income white parents indicated more of a willingness to send their children to schools reopening in the Fall than lower income Black and Hispanic parents.⁴ This finding corresponds with data from the CDC that shows that Black and Hispanic people, including children, have been disproportionately affected by Covid-19 with regard to infection rates, hospitalizations, and deaths.⁵ At the same time, low income Black and Hispanic students are among those who have been most negatively impacted by the shift toward remote online learning. As school leaders plan for reopening schools, they will need to take the needs and concerns of low income Black and Hispanic students and their families into special consideration.

When considering what to do, school leaders should ask: Is it equitable? Is it inclusive? Is it effective? Effectiveness is about looking into whether a program or initiative is producing the desired outcomes. Inclusion is about ensuring that no students are excluded from the learning process, and equity is about working to ensure that no students are left behind (Quadir, 2020).

Schools and school districts should continually inquire, experiment, and reassess. They should encourage inquiry and experimentation while providing consistent support. Geiger and Dawson (2020) point out that

[a] stance toward inquiry and experimentation has been shown to lead to improved student outcomes and a strong sense of professional competence ... which serves teachers well at all times but particularly in trying times such as emergency remote teaching. We recommend teacher educators instill a sense of professionalism in teachers by scaffolding and supporting cycles of inquiry that allow them to study pressing problems they experience in their practice (p. 258).

School leaders should take risks and lean forward. In an interview regarding at-home learning during the Covid-19 crisis, the CEO of Distinctive Schools, Scott Frauenheim, made the point that "[t]his is our opportunity to test, pilot and prototype" (Lockett, 2020, March 27).⁶

The current situation provides schools with a unique opportunity to learn about and invest in technology-enhanced instruction. School leaders should take the time to reflect on lessons learned with a vision toward the future. When the pandemic eventually subsides, here is a question for school leaders to consider: What are elements of remote, online, and blended learning that worked well and what parts of those models could we potentially incorporate into longer-term plans for instruction?

⁴ The survey was conducted by the Global Strategy Group in partnership with The Education Trust–New York. ⁵ See <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/covid-data/investigations-discovery/hospitalization-death-by-race-ethnicity.html</u> and <u>https://data.cdc.gov/NCHS/Deaths-by-Race-and-Hispanic-Origin-Ages-0-18-Years/32c3-mvuz</u> for more information.

⁶ Distinctive Schools is a network of eight charter schools that includes Chicago International Charter School (CICS).

Resource Guide on Learning Models

This section is meant to be a guide for schools and school districts on learning models that may be useful both during and after the Covid-19 pandemic crisis. I obtained information from various sources that are listed throughout the Works Cited and Extended Bibliography sections, and this Resource Guide represents a summary of my findings. I also present highlights from my findings toward the end. In order to present the information in a concise and streamlined way, I limited the parenthetical citations in this section. Please contact me at junehan@post.harvard.edu for more detailed information.

Glossary of Terms

Blended (or Hybrid) Learning: Learning in which online learning is combined in some form with traditional in-class, face-to-face instruction.

Blended Synchronous Learning: Technology-supported learning in which online students and classroom students can participate in the same class activities in real time.

Distance (or Remote) Learning: Instruction that uses electronic technologies to connect and support interaction between students and teachers who are separated by time and/or space.

- The electronic technologies could include the internet or telecommunications systems that allow video and audio conferencing.
- A broader term called distance education also includes instruction delivered through nonelectronic methods, such as correspondence study.

Face-to-Face Learning: Learning in a central location, usually in a brick-and-mortar building such as a school, with an instructor.

• This type of instruction is sometimes called in-class or in-person learning.

Online Learning: Learning in which instruction and content are delivered primarily through the internet.

- Online learning is the most common form of distance learning.
- Within online learning, there is both synchronous and asynchronous learning.
 - **Synchronous Learning** (real-time): Instruction and communication between students and teachers occur in real time, whether in a physical or virtual place.
 - **Asynchronous Learning** (delayed-time): There is a time lag between the presentation of instruction and student responses, with students working at different times.

Personalized Learning: Learning that aims to be tailored for each student by incorporating automated and/or student-centered pedagogies.

On Communications and Messaging

Though Distance Learning is more commonly used than Remote Learning in the research literature, Remote Learning may be a preferable choice for schools and school districts in their communications with students, families, and the general public. The word "distance" serves as a reminder that students are physically separated from their teachers and peers, which during the Covid-19 crisis could be a traumatic reminder for some. As a result, I use the phrase Remote Learning throughout most of this report. In general, the research more commonly refers to Blended Learning over Hybrid Learning. I use the phrase Blended Learning in this report to better reflect how it is stated in the literature.

Information on Learning Models

Larson and Archambault (2015) identify three basic or fundamental forms of learning: (1) Face-to-Face, (2) Online, and (3) Blended. The relationship between the three forms of learning is shown in Figure 1.

Figure 1. Relationship Between Learning Models



As shown in Figure 1, Face-to-Face Learning and Online Learning can each exist independently, or they can be combined to form Blended Learning, which incorporates elements from both learning models (Larson & Archambault, 2015).

On the following page, Table 1 lays out the definitions, subcategories, examples, and notes for each of the three basic learning models (see Table 1).

Table 1. K-12 Learning Models	(Face-to-Face,	Online, Blended)
-------------------------------	----------------	------------------

Learning Model	Definition	Subcategories	Examples	Notes
Face-to-Face	Learning in a central location, usually in a	Traditional	Most private and public schools in the U.S.	Sometimes called in-class or in-person learning or brick-and-mortar learning.
	brick-and-mortar building such as a school, with an instructor.	Technology- Enhanced	Schools and classes that integrate technology into in-class instruction	Traditional face-to-face learning where the instructor also uses or manages technology to enhance the delivery of content and/or instruction.
Online	Learning in which instruction and content	Formal	Florida Virtual School (FLVS Full Time)	Online learning can be synchronous (real- time) or asynchronous (delayed-time).
	are delivered primarily through the internet.	Informal	Dreambox Learning, educational games	Formal online programs are structured and accredited.
Blended	Learning in which online learning is combined in some form with traditional in-class, face-	Rotation Model	Rocketship Public Schools	The student, as part of a particular class or course, moves on a fixed schedule between face-to-face learning and at least one online element.
	to-face instruction.	Flex Model	iPrep Academy	The student learns on an individually defined schedule, moving between primarily online learning and varying types and degrees of face-to-face learning.
		Self-Blend Model	Florida Virtual School (FLVS Flex) and all other online schools that offer a la carte courses that can be taken remotely	The student elects to pursue at least one formal online course in addition to their traditional, face-to-face program.
		Enriched- Virtual Model	eCADEMY Virtual High School	The student learns almost entirely online with minimal face-to-face learning within each of the courses.

Note: Adapted from Larson & Archambault, 2015, p. 173 and also includes information from Horn & Staker, 2011, p. 5.

Table 2 lays out similar information for two alternative learning models: Remote Learning and Personalized Learning (see Table 2).

Learning Model	Definition	Subcategories	Examples	Notes
Remote Learning	Instruction that uses electronic technologies to connect and support	Online	Florida Virtual School (formal); also what many schools in the U.S offered in the months during the Covid-19 pandemic- related school closures	Electronic technologies could include the internet or telecommunications systems. Online learning is the most common form of remote learning. Remote online learning
	interaction between students and teachers who are separated by time and/or space.	Offline	Students who use offline and printed materials to learn and have check-in meetings with their teachers by phone (i.e., because they do not have internet access)	could stand alone as a full-time online learning program, or it could be used as part of a blended learning model. Offline remote learning is more common in developing countries without a strong technology and internet infrastructure.
Personalized Learning	Instruction that aims to be tailored for each student by	Face-to-face (Traditional)	Montessori schools	Montessori schools focus on student- centered learning and strictly limit technology use.
	incorporating automated and/or student-centered pedagogies.	Face-to-Face (Technology- Enhanced)	Instruction where teachers incorporate automated online learning tools and/or digital assessments, dashboards, and profiles (such as those provided by Dreambox Learning and STAR Testing)	Schools and school districts can choose to move toward more automated and/or student-centered pedagogies to make learning more personalized.
		Online	Florida Virtual School (formal), Dreambox Learning (informal)	Dreambox Learning is a fully automated personalized online learning program.
		Blended	Rocketship Public Schools, Summit Learning	Summit Learning is run by T.L.P. Education and is supported by the Chan Zuckerberg Initiative.

Table 3 lays out information for two learning models of interest for K-12 schools during the Covid pandemic crisis: The Blended Rotation Model and Blended Synchronous Learning (see Table 3).

Table 3. Learning Models of Interes	t (Blended Rotation and	Blended Synchronous)
-------------------------------------	-------------------------	------------------------------

Learning Model	Definition	Subcategories	Notes
Blended Rotation Model	Learning in which students in a given course rotate on a fixed schedule between online learning in a self-paced environment and sitting in a traditional classroom with a face-to-face teacher. It is the model most in between face-to-face learning and online learning because it involves a split between the two and, in some cases, between remote and onsite learning. The face-to-face teacher usually oversees the online work.	Modified Tutorial	The Modified Tutorial model often employs a flipped classroom where lectures and/or lessons could be delivered online for asynchronous learning with in- person small group meetings for student discussions and time in class to complete assignments and projects under the guidance of the instructor.
Blended Synchronous Learning	Technology-supported learning in which online students and classroom students can participate in the same class activities in real time.	HyFlex	The HyFlex model sounds very similar to Blended Synchronous Learning. HyFlex, however, allows for more student choice as students get to decide either to attend in person or online at any given time. Also, there is an asynchronous component to this model. While classes are streamed live, they can be recorded so that students who cannot or choose not to attend class either in-person or online can access the classroom recordings at a later time.

As seen above, Modified Tutorial is a subcategory of the Blended Rotation Model, whereas HyFlex could be seen as a subcategory of Blended Synchronous Learning (see Table 3).

On the following pages, see Tables 4-6 which outline benefits, challenges, and other information for Remote, Online, Blended, Blended Synchronous, and Personalized Learning.

Table 4. Pros and Cons of Remote and Online Learning

Learning Model	Benefits	Challenges	Recommended Guidelines	Other Considerations
Remote Learning	Can minimize learning loss	Difficult to ensure equity and	Strive for equity and inclusion,	While online learning is the most
	associated with school	inclusion – some students lack	communicate clear expectations,	common form of remote learning,
	closures, give students a	WiFi, digital device, quiet space to	refer to the ISTE Standards. Focus	it is not the only option. Some
	routine, promote physical	do work, parents with time or	on student-centered learning and	students do better than others
	distancing. Can be an	ability to help. Some must work or	the importance of student voice.	with remote learning. High quality
	effective means of content	care for younger siblings. Greater	Tend to the whole child – not just	teachers are important for
	knowledge acquisition.	challenges for students with	academic, but also social and	student success in both in-class
	Increases educational access	disabilities, low income students,	emotional needs. Consider virtual	and remote learning
	for students who cannot	and English learners. Also more	field trips and other free	environments. Clear, consistent,
	participate in the classroom.	difficulties for younger students.	educational resources. Seek to	and accessible communication is
	Can also provide students	No consensus on what the focus of	have daily personal connections	important. Remote learning is
	with a feeling of autonomy	remote learning during the	and build learning communities.	merely a medium for delivering
	and allow students to work at	pandemic should be. Social	Younger students need more	instruction. There have been
	their own pace. Some	isolation and loneliness. Challenges	supervision and reinforcement,	some theoretical and conceptual
	students prefer and do better	for working parents who must	fewer and easier instructions, and	frameworks developed in the
	with remote learning than	oversee remote learning. Lack of	lessons in smaller segments with	study of distance learning.
	traditional in-class learning.	motivation by some students.	no distractions.	
		Many supports are required for		
		student success.		
Online Learning	Can offer flexibility, greater	Same as above. Additional	At a minimum, schools need a	Online instruction is not just
	educational access, and cost	challenges: Lack of continual	learning management system	useful for the transmission of
	effectiveness. Can enhance	expressive exchange and feedback.	(LMS), online course content,	knowledge; it can facilitate
	the quality of learning	Inconsistencies in the quality of	policies to address student access	different types of student
	experiences. Synchronous	online instruction. Need to	to devices and the internet,	learning, including learning that is
	online learning is more	establish attendance requirements,	support for students and	more active and interactive. There
	interactive than other forms	assessments, and grading policies.	teachers, and ongoing training for	are teaching strategies to make
	of remote learning. Can offer	Issues with student and staff	teachers. Focus on big ideas and	online learning more engaging
	instant feedback on student	readiness and need for consistent,	aim for more authentic and	and responsive – focus on
	performance and efficient	high-quality professional	meaningful learning rather than	connecting with students and on
	data collection on individual	development. Slow broadband	"covering" topics. Enhancing	building relationships and
	and group performance. Can	speed and technical problems.	social presence and humanization	learning communities,
	be an attractive replacement	Issues with limited technological	are strategies that can help bridge	incorporate student voice, and
	for in-class instruction when	infrastructure and digital capacity.	the physical distance between	make learning interesting and
	needed.	Negative effects of too much	students and teachers in online	relevant for students.
		screen time. Online learning may	learning environments.	
		not work well for all subject areas.		

Table 5. Pros and Cons of Blended and Blended Synchronous Learning

Learning Model	Benefits	Challenges	Recommended Guidelines	Other Considerations
Blended Learning	Can combine the best of	Requires a great deal of	Classroom and online learning	Most of the research in this area
	classroom and online teaching	thoughtfulness, effort, and	modes and resources should be	is exploratory, focusing on
	and learning. Can support	engagement to do it well. It is	well-integrated. Blended learning	concepts, frameworks, and the
	students with differentiated	time-consuming and will most	should be incorporated into	potential of blended learning.
	instruction and individualized	likely increase teachers'	teacher professional development.	While it is ideal for teachers to
	feedback through automated	workload. Not as cost-effective	It requires a long-term investment	be able to choose the most
	data systems - has the potential	as online learning. Blended	in time and resources to make a	appropriate blended learning
	to make learning more	learning is well-suited for	successful shift to blended	model, it does not always
	personalized. May be a better	student-centered learning, which	learning.	happen in terms of
	option for elementary and	would require a big change in		implementation.
	middle school students than	mindset by some teachers. Some		
	100% online learning - social	teachers may be resistant to the		
	and emotional development is	type of change that is required		
	important for younger	to implement blended learning,		
	students, and online learning	especially those who are		
	generally works better for older	resistant to the use of		
	students.	technology in instruction.		
Blended	Allows students who are	Difficulty of teachers having to	Classes and instruction need to be	Most of the research to date on
Synchronous	learning remotely to participate	balance the learning needs of	redesigned for blended	blended synchronous learning
Learning	in class activities in real time,	face-to-face and remote learning	synchronous learning. Important to	has focused on students in
	which can lead to more active	students – can lead to cognitive	have the right technology set-up.	higher education. The instructor
	learning, interaction,	overlaod caused by split	Need to ensure smooth	should determine in advance
	engagement, and a greater	attention. Requires a great deal	communication between	how students answer questions
	sense of community. Can	of focus and effort by teachers to	instructor, classroom students, and	posed to the entire class as there
	provide students with greater	create and manage a blended	online students. Instructors must	is generally an audio lag for
	educational access – offers	synchronous learning	pay balanced attention to	online students. Researchers do
	flexibility and convenience. Can	environment (BSLE). Not many	classroom and online students.	not agree as to whether (text)
	save teachers time from not	relevant professional	Teachers need assistance and	chat features should be used or
	having to repeat lessons.	development opportunities.	support in the classroom. In	disabled. If used, the chat
		There are also challenges for	addition to being well-prepared	feature should be monitored by
		students, both online and in the	and organized, teachers must be	a student or teaching assistant.
		classroom, including technology-	clear, composed, and flexible.	
		related problems.	Students must also be prepared in	
			advance for learning in a BSLE.	

Table 6. Pros and Cons of Personalized Learning

Learning Model	Benefits	Challenges	Recommended Guidelines	Other Considerations
Personalized	It is instruction that tailored for	Personalized learning (in its	Lokey-Vega and Stevens (2019)	The idealized version of
Learning	each student. Supports student-	idealized form) would require an	propose a Personalized Learning	personalized learning would be
	centered learning and	instructional model change and a	Continuum Framework, pointing	difficult to implement in the
	encourages student voice and	large paradigm shift. Many	out that personalized learning	traditional, face-to-face
	choice. Idealized benefits:	educators are unclear about what	encompasses both online schools	instructional model within a K-12
	Learners have the agency to set	personalized learning actually	and programs that focus on	public school because of the
	their own learning goals and	means and how it can be	automated pedagogies and	challenges identified earlier. On
	pathways. Within this idealized	translated into instructional	models like Montessori that	the other hand, if personalized
	model, online and blended	practice. Significant challenges:	strictly prohibit the use of	learning can be seen as a
	learning provide educators with	Teachers lack time to prepare	technology in instruction and	continuum, then schools and
	tools to implement	personalized lessons, and there is	focus only on student-centered	school districts can choose to
	personalized learning at scale	a wide range in student ability	pedagogies. They argue that in	move toward more automated
	for every student. A	and achievement. Also, many	many personalized learning	and/or student-centered
	competency-based education	teachers do not feel equipped to	models, "these philosophically-	pedagogies to make learning
	system provides students with	provide students with	opposed approaches are likely	more personalized.
	multiple ways to demonstrate	individualized instruction using	used in some unique combination	
	what they have learned, and	the assessment data and	best suited for the context and	
	standards set the benchmarks	resources provided by	the individual learner resulting in	
	for success and serve as a	personalized adaptive learning	a scaled custom educational	
	foundation for student learning.	software.	experience" (p. 322).	

Highlights and Insights

The following presents highlights from my findings along with additional insights regarding some of the learning models.

Insights on Remote Online Learning

For the foreseeable future and until Covid-19 subsides, most schools and school districts in the U.S. will be engaging in remote online learning. See below for some tips and insights:

- Do more with less focus on big ideas rather than trying to "cover" topics.
- Aim for more authentic and meaningful learning and for more student-centered learning that incorporates student voice.
- Break up online lectures and lessons into engaging and smaller, more easily digestible chunks.
- Too much screen time can be detrimental to students.
- There should be a balance between synchronous (real-time) and asynchronous (delayed-time) learning as there are pros and cons to both.
- In some ways, 100% remote online learning may be more of a challenge when schools reopen in the Fall. Students and teachers will be more familiar with the format. However, schools shifted to remote online learning in the last few months of Spring 2020, after relationships and a learning community had been established in most classrooms. In the Fall, many students will be with new teachers and classmates, and new relationships and learning communities will need to be established, which is more difficult in an online-only setting. To address these types of challenges, some schools and school districts are choosing to have the same teachers instruct the same students from last year—essentially having teachers "move up" with their students to the subsequent grade level.
- Teachers and other school staff should seek to have daily personal connections and build relationships and learning communities. Enhancing social presence and humanization, basically the ability to convey oneself as "real" in a virtual setting, are strategies that can help bridge the physical distance between students and teachers in online learning environments. As with other forms of instruction, teachers should strive to make learning interesting and relevant for students.
- Schools will need to pay particular attention to students who are transitioning to middle school and high school and to new students in general. Onboarding training may be needed for those students and their parents or guardians to familiarize them with the school, including around policies and procedures for technology use. These populations may need ongoing attention and support throughout the school year.

Advantages of Blended Learning

The following are some advantages that Blended Learning may provide:

- Blended Learning may be the most natural extension of the technology-enhanced instruction that some schools and classrooms were offering before the Covid-19 pandemic.
- It is a model that allows educators in theory to take the best of both in-person and online learning.
- While online remote learning may serve as a substitute for content knowledge acquisition, it can over time lead to loneliness and social isolation. A blended learning environment would provide students with socialization and opportunities for social and emotional growth and development.
- Some educators and scholars see potential in Blended Learning as a promising pathway for more student-centered, differentiated, and personalized learning.

Blended Rotation Model vs. Blended Synchronous Learning

As previously noted, Blended Rotation and Blended Synchronous Learning along with their subcategories, Modified Tutorial and HyFlex, have come up as learning models of interest within K-12 education (see Table 3). HyFlex may offer too much choice and flexibility to K-12 students as the model allows students to decide whether to attend classes in-person or online at any given time.

The Modified Tutorial model may feel familiar to schools that offer tutorials in which teachers provide students with extra help and support in the classroom, usually before or after school. With this model, teachers will need to record their lectures and/or lessons for asynchronous online learning. Additionally, they may have to lead multiple small group meetings in order to follow social distancing guidelines. However, they will not need as much support with technology. Another benefit is that the tutorial portion could move online, if necessary, which provides some flexibility in case schools need to close.

There are teachers who have the technology and instructional skills to implement Blended Synchronous Learning. Perhaps schools and school districts could prototype the model with a limited number of teachers who have the ability to put together a BSL class. Teachers will need the right technology set-up and in-class support in order to be successful. In general, this model will work better with older students as it requires a great deal of focus and patience on the part of both students and teachers (see Table 5 for more on the pros and cons of Blended Synchronous Learning).

Personalized Learning as a Continuum

The idealistic model of personalized learning in which instruction is completely tailored to the needs and interests of each student and in which students have ultimate voice and choice in their learning is an unrealistic proposition for most K-12 public schools. On the other hand, the concept and framework of personalized learning as a continuum is useful in that educators can choose to move toward making learning more personalized by incorporating automated and/or student-centered pedagogies.

On Assessments

Assessments should take into consideration the whole child. Miller et al. (2020) state that "[w]ith regard to assessment, it is important to attend to the whole child with the understanding that social, emotional, and academic needs are interconnected" (p. 39). This is especially important in light of the many disruptions caused by the pandemic crisis.

Teachers should set learning objectives based on established standards. For schools and school districts, this may mean aligning learning objectives to state standards and/or other standards relevant to specific disciplines.

With online remote and blended learning, schools and school districts will also need to reflect on student outcomes. Other than content knowledge, what are some other desired student outcomes?

As content delivery becomes increasingly digital and online, there will be a need to identify or develop new assessments. Teachers can take advantage of online assessments that provide instant feedback and allow efficient data collection on individual and group performance (Kumi-Yebaoh & Smith, 2014). However, they will need training on how to incorporate results from online assessments effectively.

Assessments should be used throughout the school year to evaluate students' learning needs and progress. According to Borman (2020),

[e]ducators should be prepared to use formative assessments to evaluate where students are academically in the fall. This information should then be used to target the specific needs of students through supplemental and/or differentiated instruction ... spring end-of-year assessments could be used to identify students who continue to struggle and these students could be served through supplemental 2021 summer programs (p. 3).

Projections suggest that when school starts in Fall 2020, students will return with about 70 percent of their typical reading gains and less than half of their usual math gains. Borman (2020) states that "economically disadvantaged and minority students will return to school with more ground to make up academically" and predicts "greater declines in math than reading skills and with older students experiencing greater disadvantages than younger students" (p. 2).

Assessments should be timely in general, but even more so with remote learning. Respondents in a recent study concluded that timely assessment of student understanding is "especially critical when implementing distance learning" (Schwartz et al., 2020, p. 8).

Students need to learn how to do better self-assessments of their learning. Quadir (2020) points out that self-regulatory attributes, such as self-monitoring, self-evaluation, and self-teaching are associated with higher quality learning and performance. One study noted that using mechanisms to prompt student reflection on their level of understanding and the use of self-assessments were an effective online learning practice (Means et al., 2010).

Assessments should allow for personalization. In general, personalized assignments and assessments are more engaging for students. Generic assignments and assessments, on the other hand, make it easier and more tempting for students to cheat (see Quadir, 2020).

As previously mentioned, there is an opportunity to develop authentic assessment of 21st century learning skills. According to Quadir (2020),

[t]he silver lining accompanying the COVID-19 pandemic can be that it catalyzes the development of alternative assessment strategies needed for 21st century learning. Learners should be able to demonstrate performance on authentic tasks (which simulate realistic environments and problems that the learner would face in the real-world). Due to the non-feasibility of in-person exams in many parts of the world during COVID-19, alternative assessment strategies for open-ended real-world authentic problems can be developed and tested.

This may be a good time overall to inquire, experiment, and reassess, with authentic assessment as well as with other teaching and learning strategies.

Works Cited

American Academy of Pediatrics. (2020). Covid-19 planning considerations: Guidance for school re-entry (updated on 8/19/20). <u>https://services.aap.org/en/pages/2019-novel-coronavirus-covid-19-infections/clinical-guidance/covid-19-planning-considerations-return-to-in-person-education-in-schools/</u>

Arnove, R. F. (2020). Imagining what education can be post-COVID-19. *Prospects (Paris)*, June 2, 1-4. <u>https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/s11125-020-09474-1.pdf</u>

Borman, G. D. (2020) *What can be done to address learning losses due to school closures?* Center on Educational Policy, Equity and Governance. <u>https://edpolicyinca.org/sites/default/files/2020-</u>06/answer_lab_covid-19_slide_202006.pdf

Geiger, C. & Dawson, K. (2020). Virtually PKY – How One Single-School District Transitioned to Emergency Remote Instruction. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education, 28*(2), 251-260. Waynesville, NC USA: Society for Information Technology & Teacher Education. <u>https://www.learntechlib.org/primary/p/216187/</u>.

Goldstein, D., & Shapiro, E. (2020, June 26). Many students will be in classrooms only part of the week this fall. *New York Times*. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/06/26/us/coronavirus-schools-reopen-fall.html?action=click&module=Spotlight&pgtype=Homepage</u>

Goldstein, D., & Shapiro, E. (2020, July 11). 'I don't want to go back': Many teachers are fearful and angry over pressure to return. *New York Times*. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/07/11/us/virus-teachers-classrooms.html</u>

Goldstein, D., & Shapiro, E. (2020, July 14). Most big school districts aren't ready to reopen. Here's why. *New York Times*. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/07/14/us/coronavirus-schools-fall.html?action=click&module=News&pgtype=Homepage</u>

Horn, M. B., & Staker, H. (2011). *The rise of K-12 blended learning*. <u>https://aurora-institute.org/wp-content/uploads/The-Rise-of-K-12-Blended-Learning.pdf</u>

Joseph, A., Branswell, H., & Cooney, E. (2020, August 17). Seven months later, what we know about Covid-10 -- and the pressing questions that remain. *STAT*. <u>https://www.statnews.com/2020/08/17/what-we-now-know-about-covid19-and-what-questions-remain-to-be-answered/</u>

Kumi-Yebaoh, A., & Smith, P. (2014). Blended learning in K-12 schools: Challenges and possibilities. In L. Kyei-Blankson & E. Ntuli (Eds.), *Practical Applications in Blended Learning Environments: Experiences in K-20 Education*. IGI Global.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/281456928 Blended Learning in K-12 Schools Challenges and Possibilities

Larson, J., & Archambault, L. (2015). The ever-evolving educator: Examining K-12 online teachers in the United States. In T. L. Heafner, R. Hartshorne, & T. Petty (Eds.), *Exploring the Effectiveness of Online Education in K-12 Environments* (pp. 169-190). IGI Global.

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Jean_Larson2/publication/270508337_The_Ever-Evolving_Educator_Examining_K-12 Online Teachers in the United States/links/54ac0b2d0cf2ce2df669434b.pdf

Lockett, P. (2020, March 27). How one school network's focus on student agency has prepared students for at-home learning amid COVID-19. *Forbes*.

https://www.forbes.com/sites/phyllislockett/2020/03/27/how-one-school-networks-focus-on-studentagency-has-prepared-students-for-at-home-learning-amid-covid-19/#3b3c15931db1

Mandavalli, A. (2020, July 15). Citing educational risks, scientific panel urges that schools reopen. *New York Times*. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/07/15/health/coronavirus-schools-reopening.html</u>

Means, B., Toyama, Y., Murphy, R., Bakia, M., & Jones, K. (2010). *Evaluation of evidence-based practices in online learning: A meta-analysis and review of online learning studies*. U.S. Department of Education. <u>https://www2.ed.gov/rschstat/eval/tech/evidence-based-practices/finalreport.pdf</u>

Picciano, A. G., Seaman, J., Shea, P., & Swan, K. (2012). Examining the extent and nature of online learning in American K-12 education: The research initiatives of the Alfred P. Sloan Foundation. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 15(2), 127-135.

http://sttechnology.pbworks.com/w/file/fetch/67600646/Picciano (2011) Examining%20the%20extent %20and%20nature%20of%20online%20learning%20in%20K12%20education.pdf

Quadir, J. (2020). The triple imperatives of online teaching: Equity, inclusion, and effectiveness. Preprint DOI: <u>10.35542/osf.io/zjdc7</u>

Reich, J., Buttimer, C. J., Fang, A., Hillaire, G., Hirsch, K., Larke, L., Littenberg-Tobias, J., Moussapour, R., Napier, A., Thompson, M., & Slama, R. (2020) *Remote learning guidance from state education agencies during the COVID-19 pandemic: A first look*. MIT Teaching Systems Lab. Preprint DOI: <u>10.35542/osf.io/437e2</u>

Rice, K. L. (2006). A comprehensive look at distance education in the K-12 context. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 38(4), 425-448. <u>https://isidore.udayton.edu/access/content/group/48d85ee6-68d7-4a63-ac4e-</u> <u>db6c0e01d494/EDT632/Rice.pdf</u>

Schwartz, H. L., Ahmed, F., Leschitz, J. T., Uzicanin, A., & Uscher-Pines, L. (2020). Opportunities and challenges in using online learning to maintain continuity of instruction in K-12 schools in emergencies. RAND Corporation. <u>https://www.rand.org/pubs/working_papers/WRA235-1.html</u>

Sharfstein, J. M., & Morphew, C. C. (2020). The urgency and challenge of opening K-12 schools in the fall of 2020. *JAMA*. <u>https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/article-abstract/2766822</u>

Viner, R. M., Russell, S. J., Croker, H., Packer, J., Ward, J., Stansfield, C., Mytton, O., Bonell, C., & Booy. R. (2020). School closure and management practices during Coronavirus outbreaks including COVID-19: A rapid systematic review. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health*, 4(5), 397-404.<u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S235246422030095X</u>

Extended Bibliography

On Learning Models

Blended Learning

Amro, F., & Borup, J. (2019). Exploring blended teacher roles and obstacles to success when using personalized learning software. *Journal of Online Learning Research*, 5(3), 229-250. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1241760.pdf</u>

Bruno, J., & Kennedy, K. (2016). *The changing role of educators: The blended learning coach*. Michigan Virtual University. <u>http://media.mivu.org/institute/pdf/blended.pdf</u>

Dziuban, C., Hartman, J., & Moskal, P. (2004). *Blended learning*. Educause Center for Applied Research: Research Bulletin, 2004(7). <u>https://www.educause.edu/~/media/files/library/2004/3/erb0407-pdf.pdf?la=en</u>

Edgenuity. (2017). *The role of the teacher in a blended learning classroom*. <u>https://www.edgenuity.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/Role-of-the-Teacher.pdf</u>

Hasler Waters, L. & Leong, P. (2011). New Roles for the Teacher and Learning Coach in Blended Learning for K-12. In T. Bastiaens & M. Ebner (Eds.), *Proceedings of ED-MEDIA 2011--World Conference on Educational Multimedia, Hypermedia & Telecommunications* (pp. 2716-2725). Lisbon, Portugal: Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education (AACE). <u>https://www.learntechlib.org/primary/p/38243/</u>

Horn, M. B., & Staker, H. (2011). *The rise of K-12 blended learning*. <u>https://aurora-institute.org/wp-content/uploads/The-Rise-of-K-12-Blended-Learning.pdf</u>

Jeffrey, L. M., Milne, J., Suddaby. G., & Higgins, A. (2014). Blended learning: How teachers balance the blend of online and classroom components. *Journal of Information Technology Education: Research*, 13, 121-140. <u>http://www.jite.org/documents/Vol13/JITEv13ResearchP121-140Jeffrey0460.pdf</u>

Kumi-Yebaoh, A., & Smith, P. (2014). Blended learning in K-12 schools: Challenges and possibilities. In L. Kyei-Blankson & E. Ntuli (Eds.), *Practical Applications in Blended Learning Environments: Experiences in K-20 Education*. IGI Global.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/281456928_Blended_Learning_in_K-12_Schools_Challenges_and_Possibilities

Oliver, K. & Stallings, D. (2014). Preparing teachers for emerging blended learning environments. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, 22(1), 57-81. <u>https://www.learntechlib.org/primary/p/112374/</u>.

Poirier, M., Law, M. L., & Viespak, A. (2019). A spotlight on lack of evidence supporting the integration of blended learning in K-12. *International Journal of Mobile and Blended Learning*, 11(4), 1-14. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/335724419 <u>A Spotlight on Lack of Evidence Supporting the Integration of Blended Learning in K-12 Education A Systematic Review</u> Staker, H. (2011). *The Rise of K-12 Blended Learning: Profiles of emerging models*. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED535181.pdf</u>

TNTP: Reimagine Teaching. (2014). *Reimagining teaching in a blended classroom*. <u>https://tntp.org/assets/documents/TNTP_Blended_Learning_WorkingPaper_2014.pdf</u>

Watson, J. (2008). *Blended learning: The convergence of online and face-to-face education*. North American Council for Online Learning. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED509636.pdf</u>

Blended Synchronous Learning

Bower, M., Dalgarno, B., Kennedy, G., Lee, M. J. W., & Kenny, J. (2014a). *Blended synchronous learning: A handbook for educators*. Australian Government: Office for Teaching & Learning. <u>https://ltr.edu.au/resources/ID11_1931_Bower_Report_handbook_2014.pdf</u>

Bower, M., Kenney, J., Dalgarno, B., Lee, M. J. W., & Kennedy, G. E. (2014b). Patterns and principles for blended synchronous learning: Engaging remote and face-to-face learners in rich-media real-time collaborative activities. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, *30*(3), 261-272. https://ajet.org.au/index.php/AJET/article/view/1697/984

Bower, M., Dalgarno, B., Kennedy, G. E., Lee. M. J. W, & Kenney, J. (2015). Design and implementation factors in blended synchronous learning environments: Outcomes from a cross-case analysis. *Computers & Education*, 86, 1-17. <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360131515000755</u>

Conklina, S., Oyarzun, B., Barreto, D. (2017). Blended synchronous learning environment: Student perspectives. *Research on Education and Media*, 9(1), 17-23. <u>https://content.sciendo.com/view/journals/rem/9/1/article-p17.xml?language=en</u>

Wang, Q., Huang, C., & Quek, C. L. (2018). Students' perspectives on the design and implementation of a blended synchronous learning environment. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, *34*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.14742/ajet.3404</u>

Wang, Q., Quek, C. L., & Hu, X. (2017). Designing and Improving a Blended Synchronous Learning Environment: An Educational Design Research. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, *18*(3). https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v18i3.3034

Online Learning

Borup, J., West, R. E., Graham, C. R., & Davies, R. S. (2014). The adolescent community of engagement framework: A lens for research on K-12 online learning. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, 22(1), 107–129. <u>http://www.editlib.org/p/112371</u>

Larson, J., & Archambault, L. (2015). The ever-evolving educator: Examining K-12 online teachers in the United States. In T. L. Heafner, R. Hartshorne, & T. Petty (Eds.), *Exploring the Effectiveness of Online Education in K-12 Environments* (pp. 169-190). IGI Global. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Jean_Larson2/publication/270508337_The_Ever<u>Evolving Educator Examining K-</u> 12 Online Teachers in the United States/links/54ac0b2d0cf2ce2df669434b.pdf</u>

Lawrence, A. (2020). Teaching as dialogue: Toward culturally responsive online pedagogy. *Journal of Online Learning Research*, 6(1), 5-33. <u>https://www.learntechlib.org/p/210657/</u>

Martin, F., Ahlgrim-Delzell, L., & Budhrani, K. (2017). Systematic review of two decades (1995 to 2014) of research on synchronous online learning. *American Journal of Distance Education*. https://webpages.uncc.edu/fmartin3/site2018/publications/JournalArticles/43_AJDE2017_SystematicR eview_SynchronousOnlineLearning.pdf

Means, B., Toyama, Y., Murphy, R., Bakia, M., & Jones, K. (2010). *Evaluation of evidence-based practices in online learning: A meta-analysis and review of online learning studies*. U.S. Department of Education. <u>https://www2.ed.gov/rschstat/eval/tech/evidence-based-practices/finalreport.pdf</u>

Means, B., Toyama, Y., Murphy, R., & Baki, M. (2013). The effectiveness of online and blended learning: A meta-analysis of the empirical literature. *Teachers College Record*, *115*(3), 1–47. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2013-11078-005</u>

Musgrove, A., & Musgrove, G. (2004). Online learning and the younger student--theoretical and practical applications. *Information Technology in Childhood Education Annual*, 2004(1), 213-225. <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/991a/807a9cc9fbe613632cec6a33d6fc3be45cb4.pdf? ga=2.10293299</u> <u>8.726361704.1594404198-318804072.1591980097</u>

Picciano, A. G., & Seaman, J. (2007). *K-12 online learning: A survey of U.S. school district administrators*. Sloan Consortium. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED530103.pdf</u>

Picciano, A. G., Seaman, J., Shea, P., & Swan, K. (2012). Examining the extent and nature of online learning in American K-12 education: The research initiatives of the Alfred P. Sloan Foundation. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 15(2), 127-135.

http://sttechnology.pbworks.com/w/file/fetch/67600646/Picciano_(2011) Examining%20the%20extent %20and%20nature%20of%20online%20learning%20in%20K12%20education.pdf

Sanders, K. & Lokey-Vega, A. (2020). K-12 community of inquiry: A case study of the applicability of the community of inquiry framework in the K-12 learning environment. *Journal of Online Learning Research*, *6*(1), 35-56. <u>https://www.learntechlib.org/primary/p/210589/</u>

Smith, R., Clark, T., Blomeyer, R. L. (2005). *A synthesis of new research on K-12 online learning*. Learning Point Associates.

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Tom_Clark13/publication/304827914_A_Synthesis_of_New_Res earch_on_K-12_Online_Learning/links/577c06ca08aece6c20fccf6f/A-Synthesis-of-New-Research-on-K-12-Online-Learning.pdf

Watson, J. F., Winograd, K., & Kalmon, S. (2005). *Keeping pace with K-12 online learning: A snapshot of state-level policy and practice*. Learning Point Associates. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED489514.pdf</u>

Yamagata-Lynch, L. C. (2014). Blending online asynchronous and synchronous learning. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 15(2), 189-212. https://www.erudit.org/en/journals/irrodl/1900-v1-n1-irrodl04928/1065292ar.pdf

Personalized Learning

Basham, J. D., Hall, T. E., & Carter, R. A. (2016). An operationalized understanding of personalized learning. *Journal of Special Education Technology*, 31(3), 126-136. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1119797.pdf

Hanover Research. (2012). *Best practices in personalized learning environments (grades 4-9)*. <u>https://www.hanoverresearch.com/media/Best-Practices-in-Personalized-Learning-Environments.pdf</u>

Lokey-Vega, A. & Stephens, S. (2019). A batch of one: A conceptual framework for the personalized learning movement. *Journal of Online Learning Research*, 5(3), 311-330. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1241736.pdf</u>

Patrick, S., Kennedy, K., & Powell, A. 2013. *Mean what you say: Defining and integrating personalized, blended and competency education*. International Association for K-12 Online Learning. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED561301.pdf</u>

Sullivan, J. (2019). An examination of the attitudinal and structural barriers to successful implementation of personalized learning (Publication No. 22618627) [Doctoral dissertation, Lindenwood University. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.

https://search.proquest.com/openview/69fc3b6ca5e3e12cf3529587763a6eac/1?pqorigsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y

Remote Learning

Cavanaugh, C., Gilliam, K. J., Kromrey, J., Hess, M., & Blomeyer, R. (2004). *The effects of distance education on K-12 student outcomes: A meta-analysis*. Learning Point Associates. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED489533.pdf</u>

Fischer, D., Frey, N., & Hattie, J. (2021 - to be published). The distance learning playbook: Grades K-12. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press Inc.

https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=7YHrDwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PP1&dq=%22distance+lea rning%22+k-

<u>12&ots=tcyOHzIoIt&sig=_wnBUdGkfoiUHKMm6gkOgcpmWU0#v=onepage&q=%22distance%20learning</u> <u>%22%20k-12&f=false</u>

Garrison, D.R. & Akyol, Z. (2013). The community of inquiry theoretical framework. In M.G., Moore (Ed.). Handbook of distance education. (pp. 104-120). New York: Routledge. <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/284306348_The_Community_of_Inquiry_Theoretical_Frame</u> work#fullTextFileContent Malinovski, T., Vasileva, M., Vasileva-Stojanovska, T., & Trajkovik, V. (2014). Considering high school students' experience in asynchronous and synchronous distance learning environments: QoE prediction model. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 15(4). https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v15i4.1808

Moore, M. G. (1989). Editorial: Three types of interaction. *The American Journal of Distance Education*, 3(2), 1-6.

https://www.libs.uga.edu/reserves/docs/scanner%20pc%20shelter/ill%20scans/michael/moore_three_t ypes_of_interaction.pdf

Rice, K. L. (2006). A comprehensive look at distance education in the K-12 context. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 38(4), 425-448. <u>https://isidore.udayton.edu/access/content/group/48d85ee6-68d7-4a63-ac4e-</u> <u>db6c0e01d494/EDT632/Rice.pdf</u>

See also:

HyFlex

Lederman, D. (2020, May 13). The HyFlex option for instruction if campuses open this Fall. *Inside Higher Ed*. <u>https://www.insidehighered.com/digital-learning/article/2020/05/13/one-option-delivering-instruction-if-campuses-open-fall-hyflex</u>

Maloney, E. J., & Kim, J. (2020, May 10). Fall scenario #13: The HyFlex Model. *Inside Higher Ed.* <u>https://www.insidehighered.com/blogs/learning-innovation/fall-scenario-13-hyflex-model</u>

Modified Tutorial

Barrett, L. F. (2020, July 8). College courses online are disappointing. Here's how to fix them. New York Times. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/07/08/opinion/college-reopening-online-classes.html</u>

Maloney, E. J., & Kim, J. (2020, May 11). Fall scenario #14: A Modified Tutorial Model. *Inside Higher Ed*. <u>https://www.insidehighered.com/blogs/learning-innovation/fall-scenario-14-modified-tutorial-model</u>

On Learning During and After Covid-19

Arnove, R. F. (2020). Imagining what education can be post-COVID-19. *Prospects (Paris)*, June 2, 1-4. <u>https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/s11125-020-09474-1.pdf</u>

Borman, G. D. (2020) *What can be done to address learning losses due to school closures?* Center on Educational Policy, Equity and Governance. <u>https://edpolicyinca.org/sites/default/files/2020-</u>06/answer lab covid-19 slide 202006.pdf

Carver, L. B. (2020). Supporting learners in a time of crisis. *Advances in Social Sciences Research Journal*, 7(4), 129-136. <u>http://116.203.177.230/index.php/ASSRJ/article/view/8109/4918</u>

Colao, A., Piscitelli, P., Pulimeno, M., Collazo, S., Miani, A., Giannini, S. (2020). Rethinking the role of school after COVID-19. *Lancet Public Health*. <u>https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpub/article/PIIS2468-2667(20)30124-9/fulltext</u>

Geiger, C. & Dawson, K. (2020). Virtually PKY – How One Single-School District Transitioned to Emergency Remote Instruction. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education, 28*(2), 251-260. Waynesville, NC USA: Society for Information Technology & Teacher Education. https://www.learntechlib.org/primary/p/216187/.

Ishmael, K., Heiser, R., & Payne, J. (2020). *Pandemic planning for distance learning: Scenarios and considerations for preK-12 education leaders*. Washington, DC: New America. Last updated on May 27, 2020. <u>https://www.newamerica.org/education-policy/reports/pandemic-planning-for-distance-learning-scenarios-and-considerations-for-prek12-education-leaders/</u>

Morgan, H. (2020). Best practices for implementing remote learning during a pandemic. *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues, and Ideas*, 93(3). https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00098655.2020.1751480

Quadir, J. (2020). The triple imperatives of online teaching: Equity, inclusion, and effectiveness. Preprint DOI: <u>10.35542/osf.io/zjdc7</u>

Reich, J., Buttimer, C. J., Fang, A., Hillaire, G., Hirsch, K., Larke, L., Littenberg-Tobias, J., Moussapour, R., Napier, A., Thompson, M., & Slama, R. (2020) *Remote learning guidance from state education agencies during the COVID-19 pandemic: A first look*. MIT Teaching Systems Lab. Preprint DOI: <u>10.35542/osf.io/437e2</u>

Schwartz, H. L., Ahmed, F., Leschitz, J. T., Uzicanin, A., & Uscher-Pines, L. (2020). Opportunities and challenges in using online learning to maintain continuity of instruction in K-12 schools in emergencies. RAND Corporation. <u>https://www.rand.org/pubs/working_papers/WRA235-1.html</u>

World Bank. (2020). *Guidance note: Remote learning & COVID-19*. The World Bank Global Education Practice. <u>http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/531681585957264427/pdf/Guidance-Note-on-Remote-Learning-and-COVID-19.pdf</u>

On Closing and Reopening Schools

American Academy of Pediatrics. (2020). Covid-19 planning considerations: Guidance for school re-entry (updated on 8/19/20). <u>https://services.aap.org/en/pages/2019-novel-coronavirus-covid-19-infections/clinical-guidance/covid-19-planning-considerations-return-to-in-person-education-in-schools/</u>

Guthrie, B. L., Tordoff, D. M., Meisner, J., Tolentino, L., Jiang, W., Fuller, S., Green, D., & Louden, D., Ross, J. M. (2020). Summary of school re-opening models and implementation approaches during the Covid-19 pandemic. <u>https://globalhealth.washington.edu/sites/default/files/COVID-</u> <u>19%20Schools%20Summary%20%28updated%29.pdf</u>

Miller, M. W., Jeffries-Simmons, T., & Rockholt, C. (2020). *Reopening Washington schools 2020: District planning guide*. Washington Office of Superintendent of Public Instruction. <u>https://www.k12.wa.us/sites/default/files/public/workgroups/Reopening%20Washington%20Schools%</u> <u>202020%20Planning%20Guide.pdf</u>

Sharfstein, J. M., & Morphew, C. C. (2020). The urgency and challenge of opening K-12 schools in the fall of 2020. *JAMA*. <u>https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/article-abstract/2766822</u>

Viner, R. M., Russell, S. J., Croker, H., Packer, J., Ward, J., Stansfield, C., Mytton, O., Bonell, C., & Booy. R. (2020). School closure and management practices during Coronavirus outbreaks including COVID-19: A rapid systematic review. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health*, 4(5), 397-404.<u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S235246422030095X</u>

See also:

K-12 School District Reopening Plans

https://www.edsurge.com/research/guides/what-s-the-plan-how-k-12-school-districts-are-preparingto-resume-and-reopen#Reopening-Plans

School Districts' Reopening Plans: A Snapshot https://www.edweek.org/ew/section/multimedia/school-districts-reopening-plans-a-snapshot.html

News Articles

Bennhold, K. (2020, August 26). Schools can reopen, Germany finds, but expect a 'roller coaster.' *New York Times*.

https://www.nytimes.com/2020/08/26/world/europe/germany-schools-virus-reopening.html

Goldstein, D., & Shapiro, E. (2020, June 26). Many students will be in classrooms only part of the week this fall. *New York Times*. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/06/26/us/coronavirus-schools-reopen-fall.html?action=click&module=Spotlight&pgtype=Homepage</u>

Goldstein, D., & Shapiro, E. (2020, July 11). 'I don't want to go back': Many teachers are fearful and angry over pressure to return. *New York Times*. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/07/11/us/virus-teachers-</u>classrooms.html

Goldstein, D., & Shapiro, E. (2020, July 14). Most big school districts aren't ready to reopen. Here's why. New York Times.

https://www.nytimes.com/2020/07/14/us/coronavirus-schoolsfall.html?action=click&module=News&pgtype=Homepage

Harris, E. A. (2020, May 20). Not everyone hates remote learning. For these students, it's a blessing. *New York Times*.

https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/20/nyregion/coronavirus-studentsschools.html?referringSource=articleShare

Huber, S., & Goldstein, D. (2020, July 13). Los Angeles and San Diego schools to go online-only in the Fall. *New York Times*. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/07/13/us/lausd-san-diego-school-reopening.html</u>

Joseph, A., Branswell, H., & Cooney, E. (2020, August 17). Seven months later, what we know about Covid-10 -- and the pressing questions that remain. *STAT*. <u>https://www.statnews.com/2020/08/17/what-we-now-know-about-covid19-and-what-questions-remain-to-be-answered/</u>

Lockett, P. (2020, March 27). How one school network's focus on student agency has prepared students for at-home learning amid COVID-19. *Forbes*.

https://www.forbes.com/sites/phyllislockett/2020/03/27/how-one-school-networks-focus-on-studentagency-has-prepared-students-for-at-home-learning-amid-covid-19/#3b3c15931db1

Mandavalli, A. (2020, July 15). Citing educational risks, scientific panel urges that schools reopen. *New York Times*. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/07/15/health/coronavirus-schools-reopening.html</u>

Mandavalli, A. (2020, July 18). Older children spread the Coronavirus just as much as adults, large study finds. *New York Times*.

https://www.nytimes.com/2020/07/18/health/coronavirus-children-schools.html

Marcus, J. (2020, April 23). Will the Coronavirus forever alter the college experience? *New York Times*. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/04/23/education/learning/coronavirus-online-education-college.html</u>

Miller, Claire C. (2020, July 16). In the same towns, private schools are reopening while public schools are not. *New York Times*. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/07/16/upshot/coronavirus-school-reopening-private-public-gap.html?action=click&module=Top%20Stories&pgtype=Homepage</u>

Shapiro, E. (2020, July 8). N.Y.C. Schools, nation's largest district, will not fully reopen in Fall. *New York Times*. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/07/08/nyregion/nyc-schools-reopening-plan.html</u>

Tully, T. (2020, August 28). Why New Jersey's Plan for in-person schooling is falling apart. New York Times. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/08/28/nyregion/nj-coronavirus-schools-</u> <u>reopening.html?action=click&module=Top%20Stories&pgtype=Homepage</u>

Other Online Resources

Learning Resources

DePaul College of Education – K-12 Online Teaching Resources https://education.depaul.edu/covid-19-resources/Pages/k-12-online-teaching-resources.aspx

EdSurge https://www.edsurge.com/

Edutopia https://www.edutopia.org/

Iowa Department of Education – Resources for Online Learning <u>https://educateiowa.gov/general-resources-educators-moving-online-learning-students-during-covid-19</u>

ISTE | EdSurge – Navigating Uncertain Times <u>https://www.edsurge.com/research/guides/navigating-uncertain-times-how-schools-can-cope-with-</u> coronavirus

ISTE – Online Resources from ISTE Community Members

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1RpX_IAUt28fqqnO356EbOKxyY1_mwtVbepG2DdaVeWU/edit

ISTE Standards https://www.iste.org/standards

Assessment Resources

Assessing Social Emotional Learning https://www.edutopia.org/article/assessing-social-and-emotional-learning

Formative and Summative Assessment in Online Education <u>https://digitalcommons.odu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1038&context=chs_pubs</u>

Formative Assessment in Distance Learning https://www.edutopia.org/article/formative-assessment-distance-learning

Formative Assessment is Foundational to Blended Learning <u>https://thejournal.com/articles/2012/11/14/formative-assessment-is-foundational-to-blended-learning.aspx</u>

SEL and Assessment https://casel.org/sel-assessment/

Summative Assessment in Distance Learning https://www.edutopia.org/article/summative-assessment-distance-learning

75 Digital Tools and Apps Teachers can use to Support Formative Assessment in the Classroom <u>https://www.nwea.org/blog/2019/75-digital-tools-apps-teachers-use-to-support-classroom-formative-assessment/</u>

Other Learning Resources

Edgenuity – Blended Learning Resources https://www.edgenuity.com/blended-learning-resources/

Florida Virtual School – School and District Solutions https://www.flvs.net/district-school-solutions

Impact Public Schools – Impact at Home http://impactps.org/distance-learning

K12 – How Curriculum is Developed https://www.k12.com/about-k12/how-our-curriculum-is-developed.html

Michigan Virtual – Resoures https://michiganvirtual.org/resources/

Rocketship Public Schools – End-of-Year Learning Goals https://www.rocketshipschools.org/distance-learning/eoy-benchmarks/

Summit Learning – Blog regarding Covid-19 https://blog.summitlearning.org/tag/covid-19/

Public Health Resources

CDC – Considerations for Operating Schools During COVID-19 <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/schools-</u> <u>childcare/schools.html?CDC_AA_refVal=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cdc.gov%2Fcoronavirus%2F2019-</u> <u>ncov%2Fcommunity%2Fschools-childcare%2Fguidance-for-schools.html</u>

CDC – Considerations for Wearing Masks https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/prevent-getting-sick/cloth-face-cover-guidance.html

CDC – Covid Data Tracker <u>https://covid.cdc.gov/covid-data-</u> <u>tracker/?CDC_AA_refVal=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cdc.gov%2Fcoronavirus%2F2019-ncov%2Fcases-</u> <u>updates%2Fus-cases-deaths.html#cases</u>

CDC – Covid-19 Hospitalization and Death by Race/Ethnicity <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/covid-data/investigations-discovery/hospitalization-death-by-race-ethnicity.html</u> CDC – Deaths by Race and Hispanic Origin, Ages 0-18 Years https://data.cdc.gov/NCHS/Deaths-by-Race-and-Hispanic-Origin-Ages-0-18-Years/32c3-mvuz

Harvard Global Health Institute

Key Metrics for COVID Suppression: A Framework for Policy Makers and the Public https://globalepidemics.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/key_metrics_and_indicators_v4.pdf

Johns Hopkins – Coronavirus Resource Center https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/testing/testing-positivity

World Health Organization: Considerations for School-Related Public Health Measures in the Context of COVID-19 https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/considerations-for-school-related-public-health-measures-in-the-context-of-covid-19

* See also State Department of Health websites for updated information on Covid-19 infection rates.